FILED

SEP 02 2015

No. 14-112728-A

HEATHER L. SMITH CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS
Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

LARRY GENE SMITH, JR. Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Saline County, Kansas Honorable Patrick H. Thompson, Judge District Court Case No. 10CR967

Caroline Zuschek, #26073
Kansas Appellate Defender
Kansas Appellate Defender Office
Jayhawk Tower
700 Jackson, Suite 900
Topeka, Kansas 66603
(785) 296-5484
(785) 296-2869 FAX
adoservice@sbids.org
Attorney for Defendant

Nature of the Case

A jury found Larry G. Smith, Jr., guilty of battery on a corrections officer for an incident that occurred at the Saline County Jail. (R. XIV, 288.) Mr. Smith timely appealed. (R. I, 73.)

Statement of Issues

- I. The District Court Erred by Not Instructing the Jury on Self-Defense.
- II. The District Court Erred by Not Admitting Mr. Smith's Blood-Spattered Files Into Evidence.
- III. The District Court Clearly Erred by Not Giving a Unanimity Instruction.
- IV. Mr. Smith's Conviction Should Be Reversed Because of the Impact of the Cumulative Errors at His Trial.

Statement of Facts

The State charged Larry Gene Smith, Jr., with battery on a corrections officer on August 22, 2010, for an incident that occurred when Mr. Smith was confined at the Saline County Jail. (R. I, 18.) After various continuances to determine Mr. Smith's competency to stand trial, his case proceeded to trial on January 19, 2012. (R. I, X; XIV, 1.)

On the night in question, Corporal Travis Henry worked the control room at the Saline County Jail and said he heard pounding sounds coming from Mr. Smith in cell 4001. (R. XIV, 107-08.) Henry said two inmates called the control room and reported concern for Mr. Smith because he continued to make noise. (R. XIV, 109.) Mr. Smith and another correctional officer, Brenda Darr, left the control room to speak with Mr. Smith in his cell and to ask him to quiet down. (R. XIV, 109, 172.)

When they arrived at Mr. Smith's cell, Mr. Smith requested to speak with the FBI. (R. XIV, 110.) Henry radioed control and asked it to open Mr. Smith's cell door. (R. XIV, 110-11.) Control opened Mr. Smith's cell door, but Mr. Smith shut it again. (R. XIV, 110.) Henry radioed control to again open the cell door. (R. XIV, 111-12.) This time,

Henry pushed Mr. Smith's cell door open and asked Mr. Smith to sit on his bed. (R. XIV, 111-12.) Henry asked Mr. Smith if he felt like hurting himself and why he kept kicking the door. (R. XIV, 111-12.)

Henry described Mr. Smith's behavior as very agitated and said Mr. Smith told him that he kicked the door because he could do what he wanted. (R. XIV, 112-13.) Henry told Mr. Smith that if he didn't stop kicking the door that he would charge Mr. Smith with damaging county property and Mr. Smith asked Henry if that was a threat. (R. XIV, 113.) Henry said it was not a threat, but that he would take Mr. Smith to segregation if he didn't stop making noise. (R. XIV, 113.) Mr. Smith told Henry that he felt threatened and Henry said he also told him he would not stop kicking the door. (R. XIV, 113.)

After Henry asked Mr. Smith to pack and he refused, correctional officer Christopher Milleson entered Mr. Smith's cell and Henry grabbed Mr. Smith's arm "to help him stand up" so he could be escorted to booking. (R. XIV, 115.) Henry alleged that once he made contact with Mr. Smith, Mr. Smith began flailing, kicking, and punching, but he didn't remember if Mr. Smith made contact with anyone when he did so. (R. XIV, 115.)

Milleson said he stepped in to tell Mr. Smith that the orders were not up for discussion, but Milleson said that Mr. Smith still did not comply. (R. XIV, 142.) Milleson said that Mr. Smith flailed his arms and hit Milleson in his chest three or four times before Milleson gained control of Mr. Smith's arms. (R. XIV, 143.) Milleson wore a protective vest designed to prevent wounds from stabs and bullets. (R. XIV, 144, .) While he flailed, Mr. Smith allegedly yelled, "I won't do what you tell me to," and Milleson said

he was "swinging at everything." (R. XIV, 144.) Correctional officer Amber Black said she came into the cell at this point to assist. (R. XIV, 188.)

Henry said that he grabbed Mr. Smith's left arm and Milleson went to Mr. Smith's right side and rolled Mr. Smith onto his stomach. (R. XIV, 115.) Mr. Smith said Milleson jammed his knee into Mr. Smith's back. (R. XIV, X.) This trapped Milleson's hand beneath Mr. Smith's body. (R. XIV, 145.) Darr said during the struggle between Henry, Milleson and Mr. Smith, Black tried to handcuff Mr. Smith while Darr tried to hold down his feet. (R. XIV, 172.)

Mr. Smith says at this point in time, someone struck him on the back of the head, possibly with a metal object, or with a fist or ring. (R. XIV, 225-26.) Mr. Smith could see the blood spraying out of the sides of his eyes as he lay on his stomach and landing on his bedside table. (R. XIV, 228-31.) Because he lay on his stomach, Mr. Smith could not see which officer struck him, but he believed it was Milleson. (R. XIV, 229.)

During Mr. Smith's direct examination, he attempted to admit some papers on which his blood had spattered during the fight so the jury could get a sense of the scope of his injury. (R. XIV, 229.) He remembered the papers being on his table when the blood hit, and he got the papers back the day after the incident, though the papers were in the custody of the jail while Mr. Smith remained in the segregated cell. (R. XIV, 230-33.) After getting them back, Mr. Smith did not tamper with them and showed them only to his attorney. (R. XIV, 230-33.) But the court refused to admit the papers because of problems with chain of custody relating to whether the blood on the files was his and how the blood got on the files because he didn't have possession of them for those 24 hours he remained in segregation. (R. XIV, 235-36.)

Milleson couldn't recall Mr. Smith getting hit on the head or Mr. Smith hitting his head, but he did see blood around the scene and admitted the blood did not come from him. (R. XIV, 160.) Likewise, Darr could not recall if the confrontation injured Mr. Smith. (R. XIV, 174.) But Henry *did* remember seeing Mr. Smith bleed during the confrontation. (R. XIV, 134.)

Milleson said Mr. Smith then bit his hand, putting enough pressure on the bite to break the skin. (R. XIV, 145-147.) Milleson told Henry that Mr. Smith was biting him, so Henry pushed on a pressure point on the back of Mr. Smith's neck and Milleson pulled Mr. Smith's head up with his other hand, and these two things made Mr. Smith's mouth release. (R. XIV, 116, 146.) Henry said he did not see Mr. Smith bite Milleson, but the officers and the nurse did see a bite mark on Milleson's hand. (R. XIV, 134, 191, 205.) Mr. Smith admitted it was possible that *after* his head began to bleed from the strike wound, he made incidental contact with Milleson's hand. (R. XIV, 237-38, 252-53.) Mr. Smith said he was trying to scream that he wasn't suicidal and did not need to go to booking to be placed on supervised watch. While he talked, he said it was possible that his teeth came into contact with Milleson's hand, but he denied intentionally trying to bite Milleson. (R. XIV, 237-38, 241, 252-53.)

Milleson and Henry then flipped Mr. Smith off the cot and onto the tile floor where Henry tased him once with the prongs and once without in a drive-stun and the four officers handcuffed and ankle-cuffed him. (R. XIV, 117-19, 147-50, 190-91.) They then carried Mr. Smith to booking where he could be placed in a segregated cell for closer observation. (R. XIV, 120.) Mr. Smith says they carried him because he was shaking from being hit in the head. (R. XIV, 243.) Henry believes the struggle with Mr.

Smith lasted about 5 minutes. (R. XIV, 120.)

In the booking cell, Henry examined Mr. Smith for injuries and found marks left by the taser and a cut to the back of Mr. Smith's head, so he called the nurse. (R. XIV, 120.) The nurse identified a laceration on the back of Mr. Smith's head that had stopped bleeding, but noted that dried blood remained in his hair. (R. XIV, 203-04.) The nurse said the wound had likely bled profusely during the confrontation because scalp wounds are highly vascular, so they bleed easily. (R. XIV, 207.) And after the confrontation ended, Henry noticed some blood spatter around Mr. Smith's former jail cell. (R. XIV, 136.) Specifically, he recalled a 2-inch puddle of blood. (R. XIV, 137.) The nurse also identified a bite mark on Milleson. (R. XIV, 205.)

Mr. Smith asked the correctional officers how they were trained to handle an uncooperative individual. Henry explained generally that their training taught them to avoid using force. (R. XIV, 106.) Rather, they were taught to use "verbal judo," pressure points, arm locks, the taser, and pepper spray and to move up between these methods as the situation called for it. (R. XIV, 106, 152-53, 175-77.)

At the close of evidence, Mr. Smith requested that the jury instructed that it could acquit him if it found he acted in self-defense. (R. XIV, 258-59.) But the district court refused because it found that such an instruction would not be consistent with Mr. Smith's testimony that he did not make contact with the officers on purpose. (R. XIV, 259.) Moreover, the State told the jury it could find Mr. Smith guilty of battery against a correctional officer if it believed he'd bit Milleson or hit Milleson, but it did not elect which act it relied on for the charge, nor did the district court provide a unanimity instruction. (R. XIV, 258-62.)

The jury found Mr. Smith guilty of battery on a corrections officer. (R. XIV, 288.) Mr. Smith moved for a judgment of acquittal and for a new trial on the grounds that the verdict contradicted the evidence, the district court erred by suppressing the blood-splattered papers, and the district court erred by not instructing the jury on self-defense. (R. I, 56, 58.) Mr. Smith also moved pro se for a dismissal of the charges against him on double jeopardy and speedy-trial grounds. (R. I, 60.)

The district court denied all of Mr. Smith's post-trial motions. (R. I, 86; XV, 7-9, 11-12, 19-20.) Specifically, the court said about the self-defense instruction:

"[T]he Court's recollection is that Mr. Smith's testimony and defense was that it never-- it didn't happen. He didn't batter the officer. It wasn't that he claimed he acted in self-defense, he said it didn't happen, so a self-defense instruction would be inconsistent with the defense presented and the Court believes it was correct . . in denying the requested instruction." (R. XV, 8.)

Before sentencing, Mr. Smith moved for a dispositional departure to probation, and noted that at the time of the crime, he lacked the mental capacity for judgment. (R. I, 66-67.) The court granted his departure motion and sentenced him to 36 months' probation with an underlying 52-month prison sentence and 24 months' post-release supervision. (R. I, 83-84.) Mr. Smith timely appealed. (R. I, 73.)

Argument & Authorities

I. The District Court Erred by Not Instructing the Jury on Self-Defense.

Introduction

The district court refused to give the self-defense instruction Mr. Smith requested because it concluded he could not claim the alleged battery was both accidental and motivated by self-defense. (R. XIV, 259; XV, 8, 11-12.) The district court erred when it made this conclusion because defendants have a due process right to allege contradictory

defense theories and have instructions given on those theories so long as any evidence supports them. Because the State cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the failure to give a self-defense instruction at Mr. Smith's trial would not have had any reasonable possibility of altering the verdict, this court must remand Mr. Smith's case for a new trial.

Standard of Review

Appellate courts use a stair-step process for analyzing jury-instruction issues on appeal. *State v. Salary*, 301 Kan. 586, 592, 343 P.3d 1165 (2015). First, the court exercises unlimited review over whether the issue is properly before it, examining the matter from both an issue-preservation and a jurisdictional standpoint. 301 Kan. at 592. Second, the court exercises unlimited review to determine whether the jury instruction the party alleges the district court should have given would have been legally appropriate to give. 301 Kan. at 592. Third, the court determines whether sufficient evidence existed to support the instruction after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the requesting party. 301 Kan. at 592. If the law and the evidence presented at trial—even if weak—supported giving the instruction, then the district court erred. *State v. Plummer*, 295 Kan. 156, 162, 283 P.3d 202 (2012).

Fourth, if the district court erred under the third step, this court determines whether the error requires reversal by applying the harmless-error test applicable to the rights impacted by the error: statutory or constitutional, with a constitutional error requiring a stronger showing that the error had no impact on the trial. See *Plummer*, 295 Kan. at 163. When the omitted instruction went to a defendant's theory of defense, this court applies the constitutional harmless-error test and reverses a defendant's conviction unless the State can prove that even if the instruction had been given, it would not have

had any reasonable possibility of impacting the jury's verdict. *State v. Andrew*, 301 Kan. 36, 46, 340 P.3d 476 (2014).

Issue Preservation

Under K.S.A. 22-3414, to fully preserve a jury-instruction issue for appellate review, the party who requested an instruction that the district court ultimately refused to give may propose the instruction before trial and must object to its omission from the proposed jury-instructions before those instructions are given to the jury. *State v. Brammer*, 301 Kan. 333, 340-41, 343 P.3d 75 (2015). Here, Mr. Smith proposed a self-defense instruction and objected to its omission from the instructions the court planned to submit to the jury before the instructions were submitted to the jury. (R. XIV, 258-59.) Thus, this court may review whether the district court erred by not giving Mr. Smith's requested self-defense instruction.

Analysis

Because this court may reach the merits of whether the district court erred by not giving the self-defense instruction Mr. Smith requested, it must now determine whether the instruction was legally appropriate, whether evidence supported giving the instruction, and, if so, whether not giving the instruction amounted to constitutionally prejudicial error. See *Salary*, 301 Kan. at 592.

1. A Self-Defense Instruction Is Legally Appropriate in a Battery-Against-a-Corrections-Officer Case.

A self-defense instruction was legally appropriate in Mr. Smith's case. First, self-defense is a complete defense to battery and Kansas law permits using force or threatening to use force when doing so is necessary to protect oneself against another's imminent use of unlawful force. K.S.A. 21-5222(a). While this doctrine does not always

justify the use of responsive force against law enforcement or correctional officers, a citizen may use reasonable force to protect himself from law enforcement when unlawful force is being used against the citizen. *State v. Smith*, No. 108,408, 2014 WL 642037, at *2 (Kan. App. 2014) (unpublished opinion), *rev. denied* December 30, 2014.

A law enforcement officer uses unlawful force when he or she commits a crime or tort against a citizen and/or uses excessive force against a citizen. *State v. Andrew*, 301 Kan. 36, 46, 340 P.3d 476 (2014); *State v. Franz*, 9 Kan.App.2d 319, 320, 676 P.2d 157 (1984); *State v. Heiskell*, 8 Kan.App.2d 667, 672, 666 P.2d 207 (1983); *Dauffenbach v. City of Wichita*, 8 Kan.App.2d 303, 308, 657 P.2d 582, *aff'd* 233 Kan. 1028, 667 P.2d 380 (1983). K.A.R. 44-5-106 states that K.S.A. 21-3215, now codified at 21-5227, applies to correctional officers when "maintaining security, control, and discipline in the correctional situation." K.S.A. 21-5227 mandates that law enforcement officers use only *reasonable* force when carrying out law enforcement duties and precludes the use of *excessive* force. See also *Dauffenbach*, 233 Kan.1028, Syl. ¶ 1, 1035-36.

Here, photographs showed that Mr. Smith sustained a head wound, which multiple witnesses confirmed bled. (R. XIV, 134, 136, 160, 191, 202, 207, 228-31.) Mr. Smith testified that this wound bled profusely and that the blood spattered. (R. XIV, 228-31.) Henry testified that a small pool of blood from Mr. Smith's wound remained in Mr. Smith's cell after the altercation. (R. XIV, 137.) Henry also admitted that he "drive-stunned" Mr. Smith, which is more painful than standard tasing because it involves direct contact between the taser and the victim's skin. (R. XIV, 119, 190-91.)

Also, testimony showed four officers physically manipulated Mr. Smith and flipped him onto the tile floor of his cell. (R. XIV, 117-18, 172.) The officers were taught

to use "verbal judo," pressure points, arm locks, the taser, and pepper spray and to move up between these methods as the situation called for it. (R. XIV, 106, 152-53, 175-77.) Generally, their training taught them to avoid using force. (R. XIV, 106.) But in Mr. Smith's case, some evidence showed that the officers did not rely on the approved techniques for subduing an agitated individual, and instead hit him on the head, wrestled him to the ground as a group of four against only Mr. Smith, using force before trying other techniques.

Because, viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Smith, this constitutes evidence of excessive force, or force unreasonable or wanton in light of the circumstances, the district court should have given the jury the legally appropriate self-defense instruction.

2. Evidence Supported Giving a Self-Defense Instruction in Mr. Smith's Case Because Evidence Showed the Officers Used Excessive Force and That Mr. Smith Acted to Protect Himself from Serious Harm.

Likewise, the evidence supported giving a self-defense instruction at the close of Mr. Smith's trial. Once this court determines that a jury instruction would have been legally appropriate, it must next determine if evidence supported the instruction. *Salary*, 301 Kan. at 592. A defendant is entitled to an instruction on his theory of the case even when the evidence supporting that theory is slight and supported only by the defendant's own testimony. *State v. McCullough*, 293 Kan. 970, 974, 270 P.3d 1142 (2012). Conversely, there is no requirement that a defendant *must* rely on his own testimony to merit a particular instruction. *Heiskell*, 8 Kan. App. 2d at 675 (citing 1 Wharton's Criminal Evidence § 27 [13th ed. 1972]).

For instance, a defendant can claim that he did not commit a battery or murder and nonetheless be entitled to a self-defense instruction if *any evidence* raises that issue. 8 Kan. App. 2d at 673; see also *State v. Hargis*, 5 Kan. App. 2d 608, 609, 620 P.2d 1181 (1980), *rev. denied* 229 Kan. 671 (1981) (noting "any evidence whatsoever" of self-defense necessitates giving of instruction). Accordingly, there is no rule that prevents a defendant from relying on contrary theories of defense and a defendant can therefore claim—and be entitled to jury instructions if the evidence warrants them—on disparate defense theories of accident, self-defense, and mistaken identity. See *Heiskell*, 8 Kan. App. 2d at 672-75.

In such cases, an accused is entitled to a self-defense instruction if any evidence exists that, despite the accused's denial, a defendant committed an act, but did so in self-defense. *Heiskell*, 8 Kan. App. 2d at 675. An individual is entitled to a self-defense instruction when both the individual and an objectively reasonable person would believe the use of force was necessary for self-protection from unlawful force. *City of Wichita v. Cook*, 32 Kan.App.2d 798, Syl. ¶ 1, 89 P.3d 934, *rev. denied* 278 Kan. 843 (2004) (battery charges).

Here, evidence existed that multiple officers came to confront Mr. Smith in his small jail cell and that immediately after he flipped onto his stomach, one of them put his knee into Mr. Smith's back and hit him on the head, causing a painful, bloody wound. (R. XIV, 228-31.) Hitting Mr. Smith on the head was not among one the approved techniques for dealing with an inmate and would cause both Mr. Smith and a reasonable person to believe that responding with force was necessary for self-protection.

Moreover, the only act that the State presented *any* evidence that Mr. Smith did intentionally was biting Milleson's hand, and Mr. Smith's timeline establishes that this did not occur until *after* Mr. Smith's head had been cut open by a punch from one of the officers, possibly Milleson. (R. XIV, 237-38, 252-53.) Thus, while Mr. Smith's testimony suggested that his physical touching of the officers was by accident, in the light most favorable to Mr. Smith, the timeline evidence still suggests the possibility that Mr. Smith acted in self-defense *after* the officers injured his head.

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