No. 14-112728-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS,
Plaintiff-Appellant

vs.

LARRY SMITH, JR.
Defendant-Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Saline County, Kansas
Honorable Patrick H. Thompson, Judge
District Court Case No. 10 CR 967

Amy Norton, #23822
Assistant County Attorney
Saline County Attorney's Office
300 W. Ash, Room 301
Salina, Kansas 67401
(785) 309-5815
(785) 309-5816 -- FAX

Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellee

NATURE OF THE CASE.....	1
STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES	1
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS	2
ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES.....	3

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

The trial court properly excluded Smith's proffered evidence, as the State made a proper objection to its admissibility based on Smith's inability to lay proper foundation. Such foundational objections are appropriate in a trial. *See Ernesti*, 291 Kan. at 64 (trial court must decide if proper foundational requirements have been met before admitting evidence); *State v. Lieurance*, 14 Kan.App.2d 87, 91, 782 P.2d 1246 (1989) ("Whether an adequate evidentiary foundation was laid is a question of fact for the trial court and largely rests in its discretion. [Citation omitted.] So long as there is substantial competent evidence to support the finding, it will not be disturbed on appeal."); *City of Overland Park v. Cunningham*, 253 Kan. 765, 773, 861 P.2d 1316, 1322 (1993) (an objection that 'foundation is insufficient' is specific enough to qualify as a proper objection).

Furthermore, objections to breaks in the chain of custody are also appropriate. While gaps in a chain of custody generally go toward the weight a jury should give a piece of evidence, rather than serve as a *per se* bar to admissibility, this does not mean

that every piece of physical evidence comes in. *State v. Horton*, 283 Kan. 44, 62, 151 P.3d 9, 21 (2007), states

“A party offering an object into evidence must show with reasonable certainty that the object has not been materially altered since the object was taken into custody. However, the party is not required to keep the object under lock and key or continuously sealed up. The test for chain of custody is a reasonable certainty that the object has not been materially altered. Any deficiency in the chain of custody goes to the weight of the evidence rather than its admissibility. *State v. McGhee*, 226 Kan. 698, 703, 602 P.2d 1339 (1979). In this case, an officer testified that the objects appeared to be the same objects that were collected in 1974. Thus, the district court properly admitted the objects from Horton's car for the jury to consider.”

At the time the trial court ruled on the State's objection, Smith had not established 1) how the splotches came to be on the paperwork; 2) when during the struggle the documents had obtained the red splotches he asserted were blood, 3) that the splotches on the papers were actually blood, and not some other substance; 4) how the papers had gotten from being part of a tablet to four separate sheets of paper, 5) how the tablet had gotten from his cell into jail staff's custody, 6) how the paperwork had been stored while in custody of jail staff, or 7) how long the paperwork had been in the jail's possession. Although Smith testified he had kept the documents in his cell after they were returned to him, he did not know how they came into being. His inability to identify how or when the papers had come into the state they were in when presented at trial meant he could not establish “with reasonable certainty that the [papers have] not been materially altered.” *McGhee*, 226 Kan. at 703; *Horton*, 283 Kan. at 62. Reasonable minds could certainly conclude, as did the trial court, that Smith's testimony was insufficient to meet the threshold foundational requirements for admission. Therefore, this Court cannot find an abuse of discretion in the decision to exclude the papers, and the conviction should stand.

However, while the State contends that there is no need to go further into whether the exclusion of the paperwork infringed upon Smith's constitutional right to present his defense, it is apparent that the exclusion of the papers did not infringe upon his presentation of his defense. Smith argues that exclusion of his paperwork undercut his ability to present a defense and only "*could* have provided physical proof to the jury he reacted on a base level and without intention." *Appellant's Brief*, p. 17 (emphasis added). However, by the time Smith moved to present his papers, the jury had already heard evidence from multiple sources that Smith had sustained a head wound sometime during the fight, and that this wound bled. Corporal Henry testified to this, as did Deputy Milleson, Deputy Black, the jail nurse, and Smith himself. (R. XIV, 120-21, 136-38, 159-61, 178-91, 195-96, 202, 206-10, 228-40, 243, 253.)

Given the testimony from multiple sources on the issue of whether or not Smith bled from a head wound, the papers he sought to admit were, at best, cumulative evidence further establishing that fact. "Error may not be predicated upon the exclusion of evidence which is merely cumulative and does not add materially to the weight or clarity of that already received." *Walters v. Hitchcock*, 237 Kan. 31, 35, 697 P.2d 847, 850 (1985). Exclusion of the paperwork did nothing to undermine or prohibit Smith's defense theory that he was struck in the head, and that this was an explanation for his actions—a theory which, as argued above, Smith was not legally entitled to raise.

Additionally, the evidence of the head wound in general does little to bolster Smith's claims of self-defense because the wound only occurred *after* Smith had begun physically resisting the officers, meaning that the wound was a *result* of his resistance, not an impetus for Smith to begin striking the officer in self-defense.

“While the Constitution thus prohibits the exclusion of defense evidence under rules that serve no legitimate purpose or that are disproportionate to the ends that they are asserted to promote, well-established rules of evidence permit trial judges to exclude evidence if its probative value is outweighed by certain other factors such as unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or potential to mislead the jury. See, e.g., Fed. Rule Evid. 403; Uniform Rule of Evid. 45 (1953); ALI, Model Code of Evidence Rule 303 (1942); 3 J. Wigmore, Evidence §§ 1863, 1904 (1904). Plainly referring to rules of this type, we have stated that the Constitution permits judges “to exclude evidence that is ‘repetitive ..., only marginally relevant’ or poses an undue risk of ‘harassment, prejudice, [or] confusion of the issues.’” *Holmes v. S. Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 326-27, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 1732, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006).

Admission of the physical files do nothing to establish that Smith was “stricken with panic and fear” at the time of the struggle. *Appellant’s brief*, p. 17. Admission of the paperwork was therefore not necessary, as it was cumulative and legally irrelevant.

Even if exclusion was erroneous, the other evidence—including Smith’s own testimony—clearly establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that it was harmless error. Even with evidence from multiple sources that Smith sustained a scalp laceration, the jury still convicted him of the crime, likely because the wound was a result of his admitted resistance. All the witnesses were consistent that Smith was angry, frustrated, and agitated prior to the struggle, and that Smith began the struggle by refusing to comply with the deputies, flailing about, and rolling over onto his bed. Smith did not contest that this incident happened in Saline County on the date alleged, or that Milleson was acting within the scope of his duties as a county correctional officer. The State’s evidence demonstrated that Smith struck the deputy multiple times in the chest and continued to bite Milleson’s hand, despite multiple verbal instructions from several deputies to stop, and the attempts of several deputies to physically control him after he began these actions. The evidence proved that Smith acted intentionally, and any error in omitting his

proffered documents is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of his guilt.

III. The district court did not err in failing to give, *sua sponte*, a unanimity instruction because this was not a multiple acts case.

A. Preservation and Standard of Review

Smith did not request, nor did he object to the failure to give, a multiple acts instruction. Where a defendant fails to request or object to the omission of a jury instruction, the standard of review is established both through K.S.A. 22-3414(3) and *State v. Williams*, 295 Kan. 506, 286 P.3d 195 (2012).

“No party may assign as error the giving or failure to give an instruction, including a lesser included crime instruction, unless the party objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict stating distinctly the matter to which the party objects and the grounds of the objection unless the instruction or the failure to give an instruction is clearly erroneous. Opportunity shall be given to make the objections out of the hearing of the jury.”

K.S.A. 22-3414(3).

“3. K.S.A. 22-3414(3) establishes a preservation rule for instruction claims on appeal. It provides that no party may assign as error a district court's giving or failure to give a particular jury instruction, including a lesser included crime instruction, unless: (a) that party objects...or (b) the instruction or the failure to give the instruction is clearly erroneous. If an instruction is clearly erroneous, appellate review is not predicated upon an objection in the district court.

4. To determine whether an instruction or a failure to give an instruction was clearly erroneous, the reviewing court must first determine whether there was any error at all. To make that determination, the appellate court must consider whether the subject instruction was legally and factually appropriate, employing an unlimited review of the entire record.

5. If the reviewing court determines that the district court erred in giving or failing to give a challenged instruction, then the clearly erroneous analysis moves to a reversibility inquiry, wherein the court assesses whether it is firmly convinced that the jury would have reached a different verdict had the instruction error not occurred. The party claiming a clearly erroneous instruction maintains the burden to establish the degree of prejudice necessary for reversal.”

Williams, 295 Kan. at Syl. ¶ 3-5.

“In a multiple acts case, several acts are alleged and any one of them could constitute the crime charged... [Citations omitted.] Whether a case is a multiple acts case is a question of law over which this court has unlimited review. [Citation omitted.]” *State v. Davis*, 275 Kan. 107, 115, 61 P.3d 701 (2003).

B. Discussion

Although the State did refer in closing arguments to both the strikes to the chest and the bite to the hand, this was not a multiple acts case requiring the jury unanimity instruction. (R. XIV, 271-74.) “The threshold question in a multiple acts analysis is whether defendant’s conduct is part of one act or represents multiple acts which are separate and distinct from each other. *State v. Staggs*, 27 Kan. App. 2d 865, 867, 9 P.3d 601, *rev. denied* 270 Kan. 903 (2000).” *State v. Kesselring*, 279 Kan. 671, 682, 112 P.3d 175 (2005). “Incidents are factually separate when independent criminal acts have occurred at different times or when a late criminal act is motivated by ‘a fresh impulse.’” *State v. Hill*, 271 Kan. 929, 939, 26 P.3d 1267 (2000).

To determine whether Smith’s actions were part of a single unit, or individual events motivated by a fresh impulse, the *Staggs* case is very instructive, and fairly similar

to Smith's case. Staggs was convicted of aggravated battery for allegedly throwing one punch and then kicking the victim once he fell to the ground. *Staggs*, 27 Kan. App. 2d at 865. Staggs argued on appeal this his case was a multiple acts case, requiring a unanimity instruction to be given. *Id.* His argument was based on the idea that some jurors could have convicted him for punching the victim, while others could have convicted him of kicking the victim. The Court of Appeals determined otherwise:

"The evidence here supports only a brief time frame in which the aggravated battery occurred. Once defendant initiated the altercation, no break in the action of any length occurred, and the confrontation continued until defendant broke the victim's cheekbone. Simply put, the evidence established a continuous incident that simply cannot be factually separated. No 'multiple acts' instruction was necessary."

Staggs, 27 Kan. App. 2d at 868; *see also Kesselring*, 279 Kan. at 682-83 (There, the Supreme Court held there were not multiple acts requiring a unanimity instruction just because "the victim went out onto the porch when Callarman knocked, when the victim was taken to the car, when the victim was returned to the car by Holmes at gunpoint after leaving the car, after the stop at the house when the victim appeared not to be distressed, or when the victim was removed from the car later..." Instead, although these events took place over a longer period of time than in *Staggs*, they were part of the same single transaction, motivated by a single impulse.)

In Smith's case, the facts are very similar. The entire incident was only approximately 5 minutes in duration. There was a single motivating impulse here for Smith's behavior: he was angry and did not want to comply with the correction officers' orders. That impulse never wavered, as evidenced by the testimony that Smith was continually yelling and physically resisting the entire time. There was no break in the

struggle, and the officers never left Smith's cell and then 're-engaged' with him physically after they initially attempted to stand him up off his bunk. The blows to the chest and the bite to the hand were not separate and distinct events, but part of a continuing transaction; there was no intervening impulse between the two that would demarcate the two events as distinct or separate chargeable offenses. Both events occurred in the same location, over a very short period of time, during the same struggle to bring Smith under control by the corrections officers, with no intervening event or impulse separating the two. See *Staggs*, 27 Kan. App. 2d 865, 867; *Hill*, 271 Kan. at 939; *Kesselring*, 279 Kan. at 682-83. As Smith did not object to the trial court's failure to *sua sponte* give an instruction on jury unanimity, he can only prevail on this point if failure to give the instruction is clear error. See *Williams*, 295 Kan. at Syl. ¶ 4. It is clear from the testimony that this was not a multiple acts case, and thus it was not error for the trial court to omit the instruction. As no instruction was required, his conviction should stand.

IV. As there are no errors, there is no cumulative error, and Smith was not precluded from having a fair trial.

A. Standard of Review

For his final issue, Smith argues that cumulative error requires reversal.

"In the absence of any error, none can accumulate. See *State v. Sharp*, 289 Kan. 72, 210 P.3d 590 (2009). The presence of one error is obviously insufficient to accumulate. See *State v. Davis*, 283 Kan. 569, 583, 158 P.3d 317 (2007). To the extent that more than one error may have occurred, we observe that cumulative trial error requires reversal when the totality of the circumstances substantially prejudiced the defendant and denied the defendant a fair trial. [*State v. Reid*, 286 Kan. 494, Syl. ¶ 20, 186 P.3d 713 (2008)]." *State v. Houston*, 289 Kan. 252, 277-78, 213 P.3d 728 (2009).

B. Discussion

In this case, the State submits that none of Smith's alleged errors were, in fact, errors at all. He was not entitled to a self-defense instruction, because his testimony foreclosed that possibility. The Court's decision not to admit his proffered paperwork was not in error, and even if some error lies in this decision, there is little likelihood that admission of the documents would have changed the outcome of the trial. Nor was a unanimity instruction warranted because this was not a multiple acts case. In the absence of error, none can accumulate, and even if one of these issues is found to have constituted error, it is still harmless and insufficient to require reversal. "A defendant is entitled to a *fair* trial but not a perfect one, for there are no perfect trials. *State v. Bly*, 215 Kan. 168, 178, 523 P.2d 397 (1974)." *State v. Cruz*, 297 Kan. 1048, 1075, 307 P.3d 199 (2013) (emphasis original). A review of the totality of the circumstances reveals that Smith was not substantially prejudiced in any way, nor was he denied a fair trial. In light of the overwhelming evidence of Smith's guilt, his conviction should not be reversed.

CONCLUSION

None of the issues raised by Smith in his brief amount to error, or at best constitute a single error that does not require reversal as it was harmless. Consequently, his conviction for one count of battery on a corrections officer should stand.